MINUTES COMMITTEE ON RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE

Meeting of January 7, 2016 | Phoenix, AZ

ATTENDANCE

The Judicial Conference on Rules of Practice and Procedure held its spring meeting in Phoenix, Arizona on January 7, 2016. The following members participated in the meeting:

Judge Jeffrey S. Sutton, Chair Associate Justice Brent E. Dickson Roy T. Englert, Esq. Gregory G. Garre, Esq. Daniel C. Girard, Esq. Judge Neil M. Gorsuch Judge Susan P. Graber Professor William K. Kelley Judge Patrick J. Schiltz Judge Amy St. Eve Judge Richard C. Wesley Judge Jack Zouhary

The following attended on behalf of the advisory committees:

Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules – Judge Steven M. Colloton, Chair Professor Gregory E. Maggs, Reporter

Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules – Judge Sandra Segal Ikuta, Chair Professor S. Elizabeth Gibson, Reporter (by teleconference)
Professor Michelle M. Harner, Reporter

Advisory Committee on Civil Rules – Judge John D. Bates, Chair Professor Edward H. Cooper, Reporter Professor Richard L. Marcus, Reporter Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules – Judge Donald W. Molloy, Chair Professor Sara Sun Beale, Reporter Professor Nancy J. King, Reporter

Advisory Committee on Evidence Rules – Judge William K. Sessions III, Chair Professor Daniel J. Capra, Reporter

Elizabeth J. Shapiro, Esq., Deputy Director for the Civil Division of the Justice Department, represented the Department of Justice on behalf of the Honorable Sally Quillian Yates, Deputy Attorney General.

Other meeting attendees included: Judge David G. Campbell; Judge Scott Matheson, Jr. (teleconference); Judge Robert M. Dow (teleconference); Judge Phillip R. Martinez and Sean Marlaire, representing the Court Administration and Case Management Committee ("CACM"); Professor Bryan A. Garner, Style Consultant; Professor R. Joseph Kimble, Style Consultant; Professor Geoffrey C. Hazard, Jr., Consultant.

Providing support to the Committee:

Professor Daniel R. Coquillette
Rebecca A. Womeldorf (by teleconference)
Julie Wilson (by teleconference)
Scott Myers
Bridget M. Healy (by teleconference)
Shelly Cox
Tim Reagan
Derek A. Webb
Amelia G. Yowell (by teleconference)

Reporter, Standing Committee Secretary, Standing Committee Attorney Advisor, RCSO Attorney Advisor, RCSO Attorney Advisor, RCSO Administrative Specialist Senior Research Associate, FJC Law Clerk, Standing Committee Supreme Court Fellow, AO

INTRODUCTORY REMARKS

Judge Sutton called the meeting to order. He introduced two new members of the Standing Committee, Daniel Girard and William Kelley, welcomed back Bryan Garner as a Style Consultant, welcomed Judge John Bates as the new chair of the Advisory Committee on Civil Rules and Judge Donald Molloy as the new chair of the Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules, and introduced Greg Maggs as the new reporter for the Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules and Michelle Harner as a new reporter for the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules. He thanked Judge Phillip Martinez and Sean Marlaire for representing CACM. And he reminded the attendees that Justice O'Connor would attend the dinner meeting.

Judge Sutton reported that the civil rules package, which included revisions of Rules 1, 4, 16, 26, 30, 31, 33, 34, 37, and 55, and abrogation of Rule 84, and Bankruptcy Rule 1007, went into effect on December 1, 2015. He observed that Chief Justice Roberts devoted his year-end report to that package.

Judge Sutton also reported that the Judicial Conference submitted various rule proposals to the Supreme Court on October 9, 2015 (Appellate Rules 4, 5, 21, 25, 26, 27, 28, 28.1, 29, 32, 35, and 40, and Forms 1, 5, and 6, and proposed new Form 7; Bankruptcy Rules 1010, 1011, 2002, 3002.1, 9006(f), and new Rule 1012; Civil Rules 4, 6, and 82; and Criminal Rules 4, 41, and 45) and again on October 29, 2015 (Bankruptcy Rules 7008, 7012, 7016, 9027, and 9033, known as the "Stern Amendments").

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

Upon a motion by a member, seconded by another, and by voice vote: **The Standing Committee approved the minutes of the May 28, 2015 meeting.**

INTER-COMMITTEE WORK

Judge Sutton reserved discussion of electronic filing, service, and notice requirements for the Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules' report on Criminal Rule 49.

Professor Capra discussed the 2015 study conducted by Joe S. Cecil of the Federal Judicial Center entitled *Unredacted Social Security Numbers in Federal Court PACER Documents*, which discussed unredacted social security numbers in documents filed in federal courts and thus available in PACER, notwithstanding the "privacy rules" adopted in 2007 that require redaction of such information. The Standing Committee concluded that this problem could not be resolved by another rule amendment, and offered to support those in CACM who would address implementation of the existing rule at their summer 2016 meeting.

REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON CRIMINAL RULES

Judge Molloy reported that the Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules had no action items and six information items.

Information Items

Rule 49 – Rule 49 provides that service and filing must be made "in the manner provided for a civil action." The Advisory Committee is considering ways to amend this rule in anticipation of a likely change in the civil rules that will require all parties to file and serve electronically. After study by the Rule 49 Subcommittee chaired by Judge David Lawson, the Advisory Committee concluded that such an electronic default rule could be problematic in the criminal context for two reasons. First, pro se defendants and pro se prisoners filing actions under § 2254 and § 2255 rarely have unfettered access to the CM/ECF system. Second, the architecture of CM/ECF does not permit non-party filings in criminal cases. Therefore, the Advisory Committee favors severing the link to the civil rules governing service and filing and is drafting a stand-alone Rule 49 that does not incorporate Civil Rule 5. They plan to submit a final draft rule to the Standing Committee in June 2016.

The Standing Committee then discussed the general topic of incorporation by reference across the various sets of rules. Consensus formed around the idea that whenever an advisory committee is considering changing a rule that is incorporated by reference, or is parallel with language in another set of rules, it should always first coordinate with the committee responsible for those other rules before sending proposed changes out for notice and comment.

Members also agreed that the presumption in favor of parallel language across the rules suggested that changes to Rule 49 should depart as little as possible from the language of Civil Rule 5.

<u>Rule 12.4(a)(2)</u> – After an amendment in 2009, the Code of Judicial Conduct no longer treats as "parties" all victims entitled to restitution. The Department of Justice consequently recommended a corresponding amendment to Rule 12.4(a)(2), which assists judges in

determining whether to recuse themselves based on the identity of any organizational or corporate victims. The Advisory Committee agreed with this recommendation and created a subcommittee to draft a proposed amendment. Because a parallel provision exists in the Appellate Rules, the Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules is working with the Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules to draft the amendment.

Rule 15(d) – The Advisory Committee appointed a subcommittee to study whether to amend this rule and its accompanying note, which governs payment of deposition expenses, in light of an inconsistency between the text of the rule and the committee note. Judge Molloy said the text of the rule accurately identifies who bears the costs, but the note slightly mischaracterizes the rule by suggesting that the Department of Justice would have to pay for certain depositions overseas even if it did not request them. The Advisory Committee is struggling with how to fix this problem given the presumption that it cannot amend a note absent a rule revision. The Subcommittee will make its recommendations about how to fix this potential problem at the April 2016 meeting of the Advisory Committee.

Rule 32.1 – At the suggestion of Judge Graber, the Advisory Committee has examined whether Rule 32.1 should track the language of Rule 32 and require the court to give the government an opportunity to allocute at a hearing for revocation or modification of probation or supervised release. In a couple of cases, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit has held that the court must grant the government this opportunity and imported procedural rules from Rule 32 to fill "gaps" in Rule 32.1. After discussing the matter at its September 2015 meeting, the Advisory Committee decided to let this issue percolate and watch for developments in other circuits before considering any rule amendments.

Rule 23 – The Advisory Committee considered a suggestion to revise Rule 23 to allow oral waivers of trial by jury. The current rule requires a written stipulation from the defendant if they want to waive a jury trial and from the parties if they want to have a jury composed of fewer than twelve persons. Several cases have held that an oral waiver is sufficient if it is made knowingly and intelligently and have held that the failure to make the waiver in writing was harmless error. After study, the Advisory Committee decided against pursuing an amendment to Rule 23 because so many other criminal rules require written waivers and because the doctrine of harmless error covers this issue.

<u>Rule 6</u> – In response to a suggestion to consider several amendments to Rule 6, which governs grand jury procedures, after a thorough discussion, the Advisory Committee decided to retain the current rule.

REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON APPELLATE RULES

Judge Colloton reported that the Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules had three action items in the form of three sets of proposed amendments to be published this upcoming summer for which it sought the approval of the Standing Committee.

Action Items

STAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE MANDATE: RULE 41 – The Advisory Committee sought approval of several amendments to Rule 41 designed to respond to two Supreme Court cases that highlighted some ambiguity within the Rule and to remove some redundancy from the Rule.

The proposed amendment to Rule 41(b) clarifies that a circuit court can extend the time of a stay of its mandate "by order" and not simply by inaction. In response to a question from a member, the Standing Committee discussed the pros and cons of inserting "only" in front of "by order" but decided to leave the language as is, with the potential to revisit at the June 2016 Standing Committee meeting. The proposed amendment to Rule 41(d)(4) next clarifies that a circuit court can "in extraordinary circumstances" stay a mandate even after it receives a copy of a Supreme Court order denying certiorari, thereby adopting the same extraordinary circumstances standard that the Supreme Court has found is required to recall a mandate. Finally, the Advisory Committee proposed deleting Rule 41(d)(1), which replicates Rule 41(b) regarding the effect of a petition for rehearing on the mandate, and is therefore redundant.

Upon motion, seconded by a member, and on a voice vote: The Standing Committee unanimously approved for publication for public comment the proposed amendments to Rule 41 and their accompanying Committee Notes.

AUTHORIZING LOCAL RULES ON THE FILING OF AMICUS BRIEFS: RULE 29(A) – The Advisory Committee sought approval of an amendment to Rule 29(a) that would authorize local rules that prohibit the filing of amicus briefs, even if the parties have consented to their filing, in situations where they would disqualify a judge. As it stands, Rule 29(a) appears to be inconsistent with such local rules because it implies that there is an absolute right to file an amicus brief if the parties consent: "Any other amicus curiae may file a brief only by leave of court or if the brief states that all parties have consented to its filing." The proposed amendment adds to that sentence "except that a court of appeals may by local rule prohibit the filing of an amicus brief that would result in the disqualification of a judge."

The Standing Committee members raised and discussed several potential stylistic issues with the proposed amendment. Judge Colloton noted in advance that he plans to shorten "the disqualification of a judge" to "a judge's disqualification." Judge Sutton recommended omitting the phrase "by local rule," which received support from the members. Others raised stylistic concerns with the "except that" phrase as a whole, preferring to start a new sentence beginning with "But" or "A court of appeals may," or breaking up the sentence with a semicolon and beginning the second clause with "provided however that." Others pointed out that a third sentence might suggest that the exception would also apply to the first sentence of Rule 29(a), which governs amicus briefs submitted by the government. Finally, some members raised a concern with the meaning of the phrase "prohibit the filing," asking whether it referred to prohibiting the actual submission of the document, its delivery to the panel, or its continued appearance in the record.

Judge Colloton decided to "remand" the proposal back to the Advisory Committee for further consideration of these largely stylistic revisions before re-submission to the Standing Committee.

EXTENSION OF TIME FOR FILING REPLY BRIEFS: RULES 31(A)(1) AND 28.1(F)(4) – The Advisory Committee sought approval of an amendment to Rules 31(a)(1) and Rule 28.1(f)(4), which would lengthen the time to serve and file a reply brief from 14 days to 21 days after the service of the appellee's brief. This amendment comes in anticipation of the elimination of the "three day rule," which would effectively reduce the time to file a reply brief from 17 to 14 days. After appellate lawyers on the Advisory Committee expressed the concern that this reduced window of time would adversely effect the quality of reply briefs, and in the hope that the extra time might lead to shorter reply briefs, the Advisory Committee decided to increase the time allowed. The Advisory Committee elected to shift from 14 days to 21 days in keeping with the established convention to measure time periods in 7-day increments where feasible. Judge Colloton noted that the phrase "the committee concluded that" will be deleted from the draft Committee Notes for both amended rules.

Upon motion, seconded by a member, and on a voice vote: The Standing Committee unanimously approved for publication for public comment the proposed amendments to Rule 31(a)(1) and Rule 28.1(f)(4) and their accompanying Committee Notes.

REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON EVIDENCE RULES

Judge Sessions reported that the Advisory Committee on Evidence Rules had no action items and four information items.

Information Items

SYMPOSIUM ON HEARSAY REFORM – Judge Sessions reported on the Symposium on Hearsay Reform in Chicago on October 9, 2015. Inspired by a recent decision by Judge Posner in which he had suggested the removal of all the specific exceptions to the federal rule against hearsay in favor of greater discretion for the presiding judge, the symposium brought together prominent judges, lawyers, and professors to re-examine the continuing vitality of the hearsay rule and its exceptions. Participants considered reform of the hearsay rule in the context of the electronic information era and discussed the pros and cons of various potential amendments to the hearsay rule. Participants entertained a proposal to replace the rule-based system with a guidelines system akin to the Sentencing Guidelines. Another proposal favored replacing the system of exceptions with a Rule 403 balancing analysis. And yet another was to retain the current system while expanding use of the residual exception in Rule 807. Judge Sessions added that none of these changes was likely to happen soon, particularly in view of the nearly uniform position of the practicing attorneys that the specificity of the current rules works well. He and several members remarked upon how successful the symposium had been and thanked Judge St. Eve, Judge Schiltz and Professor Capra for their help with the event.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO RULES 803(16) AND RULE 902 ISSUED FOR PUBLIC COMMENT – The Advisory Committee has two proposed amendments out for public comment. The first, Rule 803(16), eliminates the hearsay exception for ancient documents. The second, Rule 902, would ease the burden of authenticating certain electronic evidence. Judge Sessions reported that since November 2015 the Advisory Committee has received more than 100 letters on the first rule

governing the ancient documents exception, principally from lawyers in asbestos and environmental toxic litigation criticizing the proposed amendment. Most expressed concern that the proposed rule would prevent the admission of documents over 20 years old, a concern Judge Sessions believed misplaced because the proposed rule does not alter the rules for authenticity, but rather reliability. Judge Sutton asked whether a Committee Note might help clarify this issue, and Professor Capra concurred. With respect to Rule 902, the proposal elicited little public comment and seems to have been universally accepted. Professor Capra added that the magistrate judges support both proposed amendments.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE NOTICE PROVISIONS IN THE FEDERAL RULES OF EVIDENCE – The Advisory Committee continues to consider ways to increase uniformity among the various notice provisions throughout the Federal Rules of Evidence. Uniformity cannot be achieved for all provisions. For example, the notice provisions of Rules 412–415 dealing with sex abuse offenses, are congressionally mandated and cannot therefore be amended through the rules process. The Advisory Committee continues to consider uniform language that would work for other notice provisions.

Turning to specific notice provisions, the Advisory Committee is considering removing the requirement in Rule 404(b) that a criminal defendant must request notice of the general nature of any evidence that the prosecutor intends to offer at trial. Judge Sessions added that the Advisory Committee believed the existing rule was a "trap for an incompetent lawyer" and unfair because it punishes defendants whose lawyers fail to request notice. The Advisory Committee is also considering inclusion of a good faith exception to the pretrial notice provision in Rule 807.

BEST PRACTICES MANUAL ON AUTHENTICATION OF ELECTRONIC EVIDENCE – In an effort to assist courts and litigants in authenticating electronic evidence such as e-mail, Facebook posts, tweets, YouTube videos, etc., and following a suggestion from Judge Sutton, the Advisory Committee is creating a best practices manual on the subject. Judge Sessions reported that Professor Capra has worked on this manual along with Greg Joseph and Judge Paul Grimm, and the final product should be completed for presentation to the Standing Committee by its June meeting.

REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON BANKRUPTCY RULES

Judge Ikuta reported that the Advisory Committee had five action items and four information items to present to the Standing Committee. She also announced that the modernized bankruptcy forms became effective on December 1, 2015. She added that they have been well received and that the only "criticism" made against them is that they are so clear and easy to use that they might encourage more pro se filings.

Action Items

Judge Ikuta explained that because the first three action items (a proposed change to Rule 1015(b), proposed changes to Official Forms 20A and 20B, and a proposed change to Official Form 410S2) involved just minor or conforming changes, the Advisory Committee recommended to the Standing Committee that they go through the regular approval process but without notice and public comment. She added that this would result in a December 1, 2017

effective date for the rule rather than the December 1, 2016 effective date stated in the agenda book. The forms, she said, would remain on track to go into effect on December 1, 2016.

RULE 1015(B) (CASES INVOLVING TWO OR MORE RELATED DEBTORS) – In light of the Supreme Court's decision in *Obergefell v. Hodges*, 135 S. Ct. 2071 (2015), the Advisory Committee proposed that Rule 1015(b) be amended to substitute the word "spouses" for "husband and wife" in order to include joint bankruptcy cases of same-sex couples.

Upon motion, seconded by a member, and on a voice vote: The Standing Committee unanimously approved the proposed amendment to Rule 1015(b).

OFFICIAL FORMS 20A (NOTICE OF MOTION OR OBJECTION) AND 20B (NOTICE OF OBJECTION TO CLAIM) – The Advisory Committee proposed that Official Forms 20A and 20B be renumbered to 420A and 420B, to conform with the new numbering convention of the Forms Modernization Project. It also proposed substituting the word "send" for "mail" in this rule to encompass other permissible methods of service and to maintain consistency with other new forms.

Upon motion, seconded by a member, and on a voice vote: The Standing Committee unanimously approved the proposed amendment to Official Forms 20A and 20B.

OFFICIAL FORM 410S2 (NOTICE OF POSTPETITION FEES, EXPENSES, AND CHARGES) – The Advisory Committee proposed resolving an inconsistency between Rule 3002.1(c) and Official Form 410S2. The rule requires a home mortgage creditor to give notice to the debtor of all fees without excluding ones already ruled on by the bankruptcy court. The form that implements the rule, however, says that the creditor should not "include…any amounts previously…ruled on by the bankruptcy court." The Advisory Committee proposed deleting the form's inconsistent instruction and adding an instruction that tells the lender to flag the fees that have already been approved by the bankruptcy court.

Upon motion, seconded by a member, and on a voice vote: The Standing Committee unanimously approved the proposed amendment to Official Form 410S2.

RULE 3002.1(B) (NOTICE OF PAYMENT CHANGES) AND (E) (DETERMINATION OF FEES, EXPENSES, OR CHARGES) – The Advisory Committee sought approval from the Standing Committee of three proposed amendments to Rule 3002.1(b) for publication for public comment in August 2016. First, the Advisory Committee recommends creating a national procedure by which any party in interest can file a motion to determine whether a change in the mortgage payment made by the creditor is valid. Second, the Advisory Committee recommends giving the court the discretion to modify the 21-day notice requirement in the case of home equity lines of credit because the balance of such loans is constantly changing. And third, the Advisory Committee recommends amending Rule 3002.1(e) by allowing any party in interest, and not just a debtor or trustee as currently allowed under the rule, to object to the assessment of a fee, expense, or charge.

Upon motion, seconded by a member, and on a voice vote: The Standing Committee unanimously approved the proposed amendments to Rule 3002.1(b) and 3002.1(e) for publication for public comment.

REQUEST FOR A LIMITED DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY – The Advisory Committee requested a limited delegation of authority to allow it to make necessary non-substantive, technical, and conforming changes to the official bankruptcy forms that would be effective immediately but subject to retroactive approval by the Standing Committee and notice to the Judicial Conference. Judge Ikuta explained that there were three categories of such changes that would benefit from this procedure: 1) typos; 2) changes to the layout or wording of a form to ensure that CM/ECF can capture the data; and 3) conforming changes when statutes, rules, or Judicial Conference policies change in non-substantive ways. Discussion led to consensus around the idea that after the Advisory Committee identified the need for a minor change in a form, it would vote on the proposed change, and notify the chair of the Standing Committee during that approval process. Some members observed that because the process to amend forms concludes with approval by the Judicial Conference, and does not require the full Rules Enabling Act process, the delegation of authority to the Advisory Committee to make minor changes effective immediately, but subject to retroactive approval by the Standing Committee and notice to the Judicial Conference, posed no procedural problems.

Upon motion, seconded by a member, and on a voice vote: The Standing Committee unanimously agreed to seek Judicial Conference delegation of authority to the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules to make non-substantive, technical, and conforming changes to official bankruptcy forms, with any such changes subject to retroactive approval by the Standing Committee and notice to the Judicial Conference.

Information Items

STERN AMENDMENTS RESUBMITTED TO THE SUPREME COURT – Professor Gibson gave a brief update on the Stern Amendments. After the Supreme Court's decision in Wellness International Network, Ltd. v. Sharif, 135 S. Ct. 1932 (2015), which upheld the validity of party consent to bankruptcy courts entering final judgment on Stern claims, the Advisory Committee resubmitted to the Standing Committee its Stern Amendments. It had originally submitted these amendments in 2013, and secured the approval of the Standing Committee and the Judicial Conference, but the Judicial Conference withdrew them given the Supreme Court's decision to hear Executive Benefits Insurance Agency v. Arkison, 134 S. Ct. 2165 (2014). The Standing Committee reapproved the amendments by e-mail vote in October 2015 and the Judicial Conference approved them shortly thereafter. The Judicial Conference submitted them to the Supreme Court as a supplemental transmittal on October 29, 2015. If approved by the Supreme Court in the spring of 2016, they will go into effect on December 1, 2016. Professor Gibson and Judge Ikuta expressed the Advisory Committee's appreciation of the Standing Committee's quick action on the Stern Amendments.

CHAPTER 13 PLAN FORM AND OPT-OUT PROPOSAL – Judge Ikuta gave a report on the history and current status of the Advisory Committee's plan to create a national Chapter 13 plan official form. The Advisory Committee commenced work on this at its spring 2011 meeting. It published its proposed plan form and related rules in August 2013. In response to comments received, the package was revised and republished in August 2014. The second publication prompted additional comments, most notably from numerous bankruptcy judges expressing their

preference to retain their local forms. In response, the Advisory Committee voted unanimously to consider a proposal to approve the plan form and most of the related rules with minor amendments, but to consider further rule revisions that would allow a district to use a single district-wide local plan form so long as it met certain criteria. At its April 2016 meeting, the Advisory Committee will decide whether to recommend that this "opt-out" proposal go forward without further notice and public comment. Judge Sutton and Professor Coquillette suggested that while republication might not be required because the Chapter 13 package has been published twice before, prudence might favor republication given the demonstrated public interest over the past two publication periods and the somewhat new concept of the opt-out proposal. Members generally supported the idea of further publication, but only to the rule changes needed to implement the proposed opt-out procedure, and, if acceptable to the Judicial Conference and the Supreme Court, on an accelerated basis that would allow for an effective date of December 2017, rather than December 2018. To accomplish this, the rule changes could be published for three months (August-November, 2016) and the entire Chapter 13 package could be considered by the Standing Committee in January 2017, the Judicial Conference in March 2017, and the Supreme Court by May 2017, with a target December 1, 2017 effective date assuming no contrary congressional action.

RULE 4003(C) (EXEMPTIONS – BURDEN OF PROOF) – Professor Harner reported the Advisory Committee's ongoing study regarding whether Rule 4003(c), which places the burden of proof in any litigation concerning a debtor's claimed exemptions on the objecting party, violates the Rules Enabling Act. In light of the Supreme Court's decision in *Raleigh v. Illinois Department of Revenue*, 530 U.S. 15 (2000), which held that the burden of proof is a substantive component of a claim, Chief Judge Christopher M. Klein, U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of California, suggested to the Advisory Committee that by placing the burden of proof on the objector, as opposed to the debtor which many states do, Rule 4003(c) alters a substantive right and thereby violates the Rules Enabling Act. Professor Harner explained that the Advisory Committee is studying whether, à la *Hanna v. Plumer*, the rule announced in *Raleigh* is substantive or procedural.

RULE 9037 (PRIVACY PROTECTION FOR FILINGS WITH THE COURT) – REDACTION OF PREVIOUSLY FILED DOCUMENTS – Judge Ikuta reported that the Advisory Committee is studying CACM's recent suggestion that it amend Rule 9037. CACM suggested that the rule require notice be given to affected individuals when a request is made to redact a previously filed document that mistakenly included unredacted information. Because a redaction request may flag the existence of unredacted information, consideration is being given to procedures to prevent the public from accessing the unredacted information before the court can resolve the redaction request. Further consideration at the Advisory Committee's spring 2016 meeting may result in a proposal.

REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON CIVIL RULES

Judge Bates reported that the Advisory Committee on Civil Rules had no action items but four information items to put before the Standing Committee.

Information Items

RULE 23 SUBCOMMITTEE – Judge Bates reported on the work of the Rule 23 Subcommittee, chaired by Judge Robert Dow, which has been in existence since 2011. After various conferences and multiple submissions, the Subcommittee has identified six topics for possible rule amendments:

- 1. "Frontloading" in Rule 23(e)(1), requiring upfront information relating to the decision whether to send notice to the class of a proposed settlement.
- 2. Amendment to Rule 23(f) to clarify that a decision to send notice to the class under Rule 23(e)(1) is not appealable under Rule 23(f).
- 3. Amendment to Rule 23(c)(2)(B) to clarify that the Rule 23(e)(1) notice triggers the opt-out period under a Rule 23(b)(3) class action.
- 4. Another amendment to Rule 23(c)(2)(B) to clarify that the means by which the court gives notice may be "by United States mail, electronic means or other appropriate means."
- 5. Addressing issues raised by "bad faith" class action objectors. Finding a way to deter objectors from holding settlements "hostage" while pursuing an appeal until they receive a payoff and withdraw their appeal has received considerable attention. Members of the Subcommittee seem inclined to recommend a simple solution which would require district court approval of any payment in exchange for withdrawing an appeal. One potential issue with this solution is jurisdictional: Once the notice of appeal is filed, jurisdiction over a case typically transfers from the district court to the court of appeals. The Subcommittee is currently studying this issue. The Subcommittee is also considering a more complicated solution whereby it would amend both Rule 23 and Appellate Rule 42(c), on the model of an indicative ruling.
- 6. Refining standards for approval of proposed class action settlements under Rule 23(e)(2). The proposed amendment focuses and expands upon the "fair, reasonable, and adequate" standard incorporated into the rule in 2003 by offering a short list of core considerations in the settlement-approval setting.

The Standing Committee principally discussed the "bad faith" objector issue. Some members raised the question of whether sanctioning lawyers might help address the problem. Others asked whether securing district court approval for a payoff might actually worsen the problem by incentivizing bad faith objectors to do more work and run up a bill that they can justify to a court.

Judge Bates next reported on those issues that the Rule 23 Subcommittee has decided to place on hold.

- 1. Ascertainability. Because this issue is currently getting worked out by several circuit courts, is the subject of a few pending cert petitions to the Supreme Court, and may be affected by the class action cases already argued this term before the Court, the Subcommittee has decided not to propose a rule amendment at this time.
- 2. "Pick-off" offers of judgment. This issue has also recently been litigated in the circuit courts and, as of the time of the meeting, was pending before the Supreme Court in *Campbell-Ewald v. Gomez*, 136 S.Ct. 663 (2016).

- 3. Settlement class certification standards. Given the feeling of many in the bar that they and the courts can handle settlement class certification without the need for a rule amendment, the Subcommittee has decided to place this issue on hold.
- 4. Cy Pres. Given the many questions that have emerged in this controversial area, including the necessity of a rule and whether a rule might violate the Rules Enabling Act, the Subcommittee has decided to place this issue on hold.
- 5. Issue classes. The Subcommittee has concluded that whatever disagreement among the circuits there may have been on this issue at one time, it has since subsided.

RULE 62: STAYS OF EXECUTION – Judge Bates reported on the work of the joint Subcommittee of the Appellate and Civil Rules Advisory Committees chaired by Judge Scott Matheson. The Subcommittee has developed a draft amendment for Rule 62 that straightforwardly responds to three concerns raised by a district court judge and other members of the Appellate Rules Advisory Committee. First, the draft extends the automatic stay from 14 days to 30 days to eliminate a gap between the current 14-day expiration of the automatic stay and the 28-day time set for post-trial motions and the 30-day time allowed for appeals. Second, it allows security for a stay either by bond or some other security provided at any time after judgment is entered. And third, it allows security by a single act that will extend through the entirety of the post-judgment proceedings in the district court and through the completion of the appeal. Judge Bates concluded by noting that the Subcommittee had considered but withdrawn a proposal that spelled out several details of a court's inherent power to regulate several aspects of a stay. The Subcommittee withdrew it after discussion at the Advisory Committee meetings because a stay is a matter of right upon posting of a bond and because they concluded that such an amendment was not necessary to solve any problems. This preliminary draft has yet to be approved by either Advisory Committee. Judge Bates said that he planned to submit this to the Standing Committee in June 2016 for publication.

EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS REGARDING THE CIVIL RULES PACKAGE – Judge Bates reported that the Advisory Committee has been collaborating with the Federal Judicial Center to create educational programs for judges and lawyers to help spread the word about the new discovery amendments that went into effect on December 1, 2015. Judge Campbell and others have starred in various educational videos highlighting the new rules. Judge Sutton and Judge Bates sent out letters to all chief judges of the circuit, district, and bankruptcy courts on December 1, 2015, explaining the changes. Various circuit courts are creating educational programs of their own for circuit conferences and other court gatherings. The American Bar Association and other bar groups have started to create programs as well. The Education Subcommittee, chaired by Judge Paul Grimm, is now working on additional steps in collaboration with the Federal Judicial Center. Judge Sutton underlined the ongoing responsibility of Standing Committee members to help support these local and national educational efforts.

PILOT PROJECTS – Judge Campbell reported on the ongoing work of the Pilot Project Subcommittee. The Subcommittee investigates ways to make civil litigation more efficient and collects empirical data on best practices to help inform rule making. The Subcommittee consists of members of the Advisory Committee on Civil Rules along with Judges Sutton, Gorsuch and St. Eve from the Standing Committee, Jeremy Fogel and others from the Federal Judicial Center, and in the near future one or more members of CACM. Over the past several months, members

of the Subcommittee have been researching pilot projects and various studies that have already been conducted, including 11 projects in 11 different states, efforts in 2 federal courts particularly noted for their efficiency, a pilot project conducted during the 1990s at the direction of Congress, the work of the Conference of State Court Chief Justices, and a multi-year FJC study conducted at CACM's request that examined the root causes of court congestion.

The Subcommittee has decided to focus on two possible pilot projects. First, it is looking into enhanced initial disclosures in civil litigation. Some research indicates that initial disclosure of helpful and hurtful information known by each party can improve the efficiency of litigation. But the experience with a mandatory disclosure regime in the 1990s under then Rule 26(a), which involved fierce opposition, a dissent by three Supreme Court Justices, multiple district court opt-outs, and eventual abandonment of the rule, provides something of a cautionary tale. The Subcommittee is exploring and conducting empirical and historical research on this topic at both the federal and state level. They have concluded that conducting pilot projects that test the benefits of more robust initial disclosures would be a sensible next step before proceeding to the drafting and publishing of any new possible rule amendments. Judge Campbell sought the perspective of members on several tough questions, including what the scope of the discovery requirement should be, how to handle objections to discovery obligations, how to handle electronically stored information, how to get around a categories-of-documents-based approach to discovery obligations, and how to measure the success of any pilot projects in this area (cost of litigation, time to disposition, number of discovery disputes, etc.).

The second category of possible pilot projects would focus upon expedited litigation. The Federal Judicial Center has shown that there exists a linear relationship between the length of a lawsuit and its cost. There are already a number of federal and state courts that have expedited schedules, including the Eastern District of Virginia, Southern District of Florida, Western District of Wisconsin, and the state courts of Utah and Colorado. Under the CJRA, researchers found in the 1990s that early judge intervention, efficient and firm discovery schedules, and firm trial dates are among the factors most helpful in moving cases along. Because Rule 16, in existence in its current form since 1983, already permits judges to do all of this, a change in a federal rule of procedure is less necessary than a change in local legal culture to help speed up case disposition times. The Subcommittee is considering running a pilot project that could address a court's legal culture by setting certain benchmarks for it, including requiring case management conferences within 60 days, setting firm discovery schedules and trial dates, and measuring how well the local court is meeting those benchmarks over a three-year period. At the same time, the Federal Judicial Center would provide training for the pilot judges in that court in accelerated case management.

Judge Campbell discussed another possible pilot project of having the Federal Judicial Center regularly publish a chart showing the average disposition time by a district court of different kinds of suits compared to the national average.

And finally, speaking on his own and not on behalf of the Pilot Project Subcommittee, Judge Campbell discussed with members the pros and cons of possibly shortening the time before cases and motions were placed on the CJRA list from 3 years to 2 years, and from 6 months to 3 months.

REPORT OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE

REPORT ON THE COMMITTEE ON COURT ADMINISTRATION AND CASE MANAGEMENT'S CONSIDERATION OF PROTECTION OF COOPERATOR INFORMATION – Judge Martinez, assisted by Sean Marlaire, reported on CACM's work on the issue of harm or threat of harm to government cooperators and their families in criminal cases. This problem, which goes back at least a decade, has proven a tricky one, and seems to pit the interest in protecting cooperators from retaliation against the interest of access to court records and proceedings. CACM met in early December in Washington, D.C., where it discussed the issue. Judge Martinez reported that Judge William Terrell Hodges, the chair of CACM, recommends that the Standing Committee refer this issue to the Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules. CACM has concluded that a national approach, whether in the form of rule change or suggested best practices, would be preferable to one based on diverse local rules. Members of the Standing Committee generally agreed that the problem was a serious one that required collaboration across multiple committees and consultation with the Department of Justice and the Bureau of Prisons. Judge Molloy, on behalf of the Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules, and in consultation with his Reporters, welcomed the reference of the issue to his Committee. He added that he looked forward to inviting interested parties to the discussion, and pledged to keep the Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules informed of the Committee's work.

STRATEGIC PLAN FOR THE FEDERAL JUDICIARY – Judge Sutton observed that the Standing Committee had various ongoing initiatives that support the strategies and goals of the current *Strategic Plan for the Federal Judiciary*, which the Judicial Conference approved on September 17, 2015.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Judge Sutton thanked the Reporters for all of the impressive work they had done on their memoranda for the meeting and the members of the Rules Committee Support Office for helping to coordinate the meeting. He then concluded the meeting. The Standing Committee will next meet in Washington, D.C., on June 6–7, 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

Rebecca A. Womeldorf Secretary, Standing Committee